
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Helen Morgan 
 (Tel: 01443 864267   Email: morgah@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 15th July 2015 

 

 
This meeting will be filmed and made available to view in live and archive form via the Council's website. 
The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items. 

The webcast will be available for 18 months from the date of the meeting at www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 
It is possible that the public seating areas could be filmed and by entering the Chamber you are consenting 

to being filmed and to those images and sound recordings being used. 
 

If you have any queries please contact the Interim Deputy Monitoring Officer and Head of Democratic 
Services by email pricea4@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863150 

 

 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
A meeting of Council will be held in the Council Chamber, Penallta House, Tredomen, Ystrad Mynach 
on Tuesday, 21st July, 2015 at 5.00 pm to consider the matters contained in the following agenda. 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Chris Burns 

INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
Pages 

  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
  

 
2  Mayor's Announcements. 

  
 

3  Presentation of Awards. 
  

 
4  Declarations of interest.   

Public Document Pack



Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers.  
 

To approve and sign the following minutes: -   
 
5  Council held on 9th June 2015 (minute nos. 1 - 13). 

1 - 10  
 

To receive and consider the following report: -   
 
6  Annual Director's report on the Effectiveness of Social Care Services 2014 - 15. 

11 - 46  
 

To receive and to answer the following questions received under Rule of Procedure 10(2).   
 
 
Circulation: 
All Members And Appropriate Officers 



Council – 09.06.2015 

 
 

 

 

COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE, YSTRAD MYNACH ON 

9TH JUNE 2015 AT 5.00 PM 
 

 
PRESENT:  

 
Councillor L. Gardiner - Mayor 

Councillor Mrs D. Price - Deputy Mayor 
 

Councillors: 
 

Miss L. Ackerman, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, H.A. Andrews, Mrs K.R. Baker, Mrs G. Bevan, 
J. Bevan, P.J. Bevan, L. Binding, D. Bolter, D.G. Carter, Mrs P. Cook, C.J. Cuss, H.W. David, 
W. David, H.R. Davies, D.T. Davies, N. Dix, C. Elsbury, Mrs C. Forehead, Miss E. Forehead, 
J.E. Fussell, Ms J. Gale, N. George, C.J. Gordon, R.W. Gough, Mrs P. Griffiths, 
D.T. Hardacre, D. Havard, C. Hawker, G.J. Hughes, K. James, M.P. James, Ms J.G. Jones, 
S. Kent, G. Kirby, Ms P. Leonard, A. Lewis, C.P. Mann, S. Morgan, Mrs G. Oliver, D.V. Poole, 
D.W.R. Preece, M.J. Prew, J. Pritchard, D. Rees, K.V. Reynolds, J.E. Roberts, R. Saralis, 
Mrs M.E. Sargent, Mrs E. Stenner, Mrs J. Summers, J. Taylor, L.G. Whittle, T.J. Williams, 
R. Woodyatt 
 

Together with:- 
 

C. Burns (Interim Chief Executive), N. Scammell (Acting Director of Corporate Services and 
Section 151 Officer), D. Street (Corporate Director of Social Services), G. Williams (Interim 
Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer), G. Hardacre (Head of Workforce and 
Organisational Development), R. Hartshorn (Head of Public Protection), C. Jones (Head of 
Performance and Policy), A. Price (Interim Deputy Monitoring Officer), C. Evans (Committee 
Services Officer) and R. Barrett (Committee Services Officer)   

 
Also present:- 

 
Mr I. Johnston (Police and Crime Commissioner for Gwent), Mrs S. Bosson (Chief Executive, 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gwent) 

 
 
1. WEB-CASTING FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
 The Interim Chief Executive reminded those present that the meeting was being filmed and 

would be made publicly available in live and archive form via the Council’s website.  He 
advised that decisions would be made by a show of hands.  

 
 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A.P. Angel, Mrs A. Blackman, 

C. Durham, A.G. Higgs, G. Johnston, Mrs B.A. Jones, K. Lloyd, Mrs R. Passmore, 
J.A. Pritchard, A. Rees and S. Skivens. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



Council – 09.06.2015 

3. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
 The Mayor referred to the many events and visits that he and the Deputy Mayor have 

undertaken since the last meeting and personally thanked Council staff for their hard work and 
the welcome they had given to visitors of the recent National Urdd Eisteddfod 2015.  
Reference was also made to work undertaken by Council staff at the recent Senghenydd 
Mining Memorial Service. 

 
 The Mayor referred to the recent event to commemorate the rededication of the Aberbargoed 

War Memorial and congratulated all those involved in this event.  Members were also 
informed of the success of the recent ‘Go Wild!’ event held at Pantside Community Woodland 
Park.   

 
 Members were reminded that the launch of the Mayor’s charity appeal (Ty Hafan Children’s 

Hospice and MacMillan Nurses) would be held on Wednesday 1st July 2015 in Penallta 
House and he encouraged everyone to attend.   

 
 
4. GARETH HARDACRE – HEAD OF WORKFORCE AND ORGANISATIONAL 

DEVELOPMENT 

 
 The Interim Chief Executive announced that Gareth Hardacre, Head of Workforce and 

Organisational Development, would shortly be leaving the Authority to take up a senior 
position within Cwm Taf University Health Board as the Assistant Director of Workforce.  The 
Interim Chief Executive and Members referred to the high esteem in which Mr Hardacre was 
held by Members and Officers alike and paid tribute to his accomplishments over the last 
twelve years.  They referred to Mr Hardacre’s contribution to the Authority and to the 
professional way in which he had dealt with a number of difficult matters, and he was wished 
well in his future endeavours. 

 
 
5. PETITION – NOISE LEVELS AND PARKING ISSUES, CCBC CENTRE FOR SPORTING 

EXCELLENCE 
 
 The Mayor received a petition presented by Councillor M. James on behalf of local residents 

of Ystrad Mynach, which requested that the noise levels and parking issues within Ynysglyd 
Street, Edward Street and Main Road arising from the CCBC Centre for Sporting Excellence 
be addressed.  The Mayor indicated that it would be referred to the appropriate directorate for 
attention.   

 
 
6. PRESENTATION OF AWARDS  

 
 Welsh Local Government Association Charter for Member Support and Development 
 
 Members were informed that Caerphilly Council has once again been awarded the Welsh 

Local Government Association (WLGA) Charter for Member Support and Development. 
 
 The criteria for Charter status has increased over the years and the Council had very positive 

feedback from WLGA in relation to this year’s submission.  The Charter status acknowledges 
the comprehensive arrangements put in place to support Members in their various roles and 
the quality training and development opportunities available to them. 

 
 Emma Sullivan (Democratic Services Officer) and Joy Thomas (Mayor’s Assistant) came 

forward to receive the award from the Mayor.  Members wished to place on record their 
appreciation to those involved with achieving the award.   

 

Page 2



Council – 09.06.2015 

 National School Chef of the Year Award 
 
 Members were informed that Kate Davies, the primary school cook at St. Gwladys School in 

Bargoed, had recently won the prestigious title of National School Chef of the Year. 
 
 To win this accolade, she had to prepare a two-course meal in an hour and a half.  The meal 

was based on a ‘street food’ theme and included dishes such as Fire Cracker Chicken Curry, 
Cauliflower Pilau Rice and Mango Yoghurt Lassi served with Coco Bombs, and was achieved 
on a budget of £1.60.  It was noted that the standard of competition was as high as the 
‘Masterchef’ final and Members were very pleased with Kate’s achievement. 

 
 Kate Davies came forward to receive the award from the Mayor and Members congratulated 

her on her achievement. 
 
 
7. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 During the course of the meeting, a query was received in respect of a declaration of interest 

relating to Agenda Item No. 8 (Corporate Improvement Plan - Improvement Objectives 
2015/16).  Details are minuted with the respective item. 

 
 It was noted that with regards to Agenda Item No. 9 (Contract Arrangements of Interim Chief 

Executive), a number of Officers would be required to declare an interest and leave the 
meeting. Details are minuted with the respective item.  

 
 
8. COUNCIL - 21ST APRIL 2015 AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF COUNCIL – 

14TH MAY 2015 
 
 With regards to the minutes of the Annual General Meeting of Council on 14th May 2015, it 

was noted that Councillor J. Taylor had been recorded as being in attendance but had given 
his apologies, and that the appointment of the two Deputy Leaders of Council had not been 
itemised (Councillors Mrs B. Jones and D.V. Poole) within minute no. 13 (Membership of 
Cabinet).   

 
 Subject to the above amendments, it was  
 

RESOLVED that the following minutes be approved as correct records and signed by 
the Mayor. 
 
Council held on 21st April 2015 (minute nos. 1 - 15) and Annual General Meeting of 
Council held on 14th May 2015 (minute nos. 1 - 21).  

 
 
9. PRESENTATION – POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR GWENT 
 
 Mr Ian Johnston, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gwent, was welcomed to the 

meeting to provide an update in respect of his role and his work with Gwent Police. 
 
 Mr Johnston opened his presentation by referring to the last question and answer session that 

he had held with Members and summarised the main discussion points arising from that 
seminar in December 2013.  He referred to issues surrounding public confidence in regards to 
the reporting of crime and explained that this feedback had been extremely useful to Gwent 
Police.  The closure of police stations had been a matter of extended debate, together with 
the use of mobile police stations.  Discussion had taken place regarding police attendance at 
PACT meetings, together with the issue of attendance at community/town council meetings.  
Some Members had raised concerns regarding a lack of interaction with local police 
sergeants, although the Commissioner had also noted positive comments from several local 

Page 3



Council – 09.06.2015 

ward members in this respect.  The Commissioner had received comments from Members in 
respect of improvements needed to the 101 service, and discussion had also taken place 
regarding a proposed All Wales Police Force and the retention of the OWL system. 

  
 The Commissioner outlined how the issues relayed by Members had been addressed by 

Gwent Police.  He explained that the focus was now very much centred on victim support and 
providing a service to those in need.  He acknowledged the difficulties faced in changing the 
police culture and explained that a new working model has been implemented within Gwent 
Police.  The new model contains a definitive change of focus and operation style, which 
involved moving away from the previous focus of recording crime statistics, and is centred 
around localism, ownership and an increased connection with local communities.  

 
 Members were informed that as part of the new working model, Gwent Police would be 

recruiting a number of new police constables.  The Commissioner explained that a 
management restructure is being introduced which would reduce the number of senior police 
staff but would be complemented by an increased police presence on the streets.  A number 
of centralised units have also been streamlined, including the domestic abuse department at 
the contact centre.  Members were advised that Gwent Police considered domestic violence 
to be a priority issue and that streamlining the department would result in it becoming more 
efficient and accessible to those people in need.   

 
 Mr Johnston referred to the Gwent Police budget and explained that the new constables 

would be funded via the reorganisation of existing staff, which would involve a number of 
police staff and community support officers moving across the force to take up a new role as 
police constables.  Mr Johnston also referred to the challenges that lay ahead in respect of 
the budget in future years.   

 
 Reference was made to positive achievements in a number of areas, including the success of 

the Strategic Commissioning Board.  This has been set up to provide strategic direction to the 
strategy for commissioning in a number of areas and is comprised of representatives from a 
number of key organisations across the Gwent area.  Mr Johnston also referred to his Positive 
Futures project which is led by Newport City Council and offers young people fresh and 
engaging opportunities to become involved in sporting activities which helps them develop life 
skills and achieve their potential.  Mr Johnston outlined plans to expand the project across the 
Gwent area, and he referred to the support that had been received from Caerphilly Council 
regarding this project.  He also thanked Officers from the Community Safety Department for 
their work regarding crime prevention and early intervention practices. 

 
 Members were informed of a new initiative called Safer Gwent, which will address community 

safety issues across the whole of the Gwent area and replace existing Community Safer 
Partnerships.  Mr Johnston advised Members of the huge potential of this new initiative.  
Reference was made to the success of the Commissioner’s Partnership Fund, which assists 
organisations involved in activities that reduce crime or anti-social behaviour or divert people 
away from related activity, with Caerphilly Council a key recipient in respect of recent funding.  
The Commissioner also acknowledged the involvement of the Gwent Police and Crime Panel 
in respect of this Fund.   

 
 In closing, Mr Johnston thanked the county borough for granting the use of Penallta House for 

meetings and conferences and for the warm welcome that is consistently afforded to Gwent 
Police and the Commissioner’s Office on these occasions. 

 
 Detailed discussion of the Commissioner’s report ensued and a query was raised in respect of 

dispersal orders.  Mr Johnston confirmed that it was his intention, via the new operating 
model, to utilise them more frequently across the Gwent area.  He responded to comments 
regarding illegal parking and encouraged Members to report any issues to their local Inspector 
in the first instance and to himself if these were not subsequently resolved.  Mr Johnston 
outlined the processes that would be undertaken to recruit 20 new police officers, including 
the transfer of existing staff to fill these roles and the costs involved, and also explained how a 

Page 4



Council – 09.06.2015 

number of staff in centralised units would be redeployed to other areas across Gwent.   
 
 Discussion took place regarding PACT meetings and the Commissioner outlined his plans for 

improved engagement between the local community, community support officers and police 
representatives, together with his expectation that issues would subsequently be resolved in a 
more productive manner.  He encouraged Members to hold local Sergeants and Inspectors 
accountable at these meetings in respect of improvements for key local issues.  Members 
were pleased to note the news of these proposals, and the Commissioner received a number 
of positive comments in respect of police attendance at PACT meetings and the work of 
PCSOs in local wards.  A comment was also received in respect of the ’Your Voice’ system 
and the Commissioner asked for Members to inform him if this system was not evident within 
their local ward, as there was now an agreement in place for senior police officers to attend a 
required minimum amount of PACT meetings.   

 
 A Member made reference to Blackwood Crime and Prevention Panel and the work it carried 

out with the OWL service, and queried the sources of funding available to the Panel.  The 
Commissioner encouraged the Panel to apply for additional funding from his Office if they 
could demonstrate a need for it in respect of effective crime prevention initiatives.   

 
 Reference was made to the 101 service and the Commissioner outlined his plans for 

improvements in this area, including the implementation of a new STORM system, with the 
intention that this will lead to increased public confidence regarding the reporting of crime. 
Members were encouraged to provide feedback on this new system. 

 
 A query was raised regarding the recruitment of new police cadets and Mr Johnston outlined a 

new initiative located within two comprehensive schools in the area, which would increase the 
number of recruits and incorporate a new training style.  Mr Johnston also responded to a 
query regarding speeding initiatives and outlined the measures undertaken by Gwent Police in 
respect of road safety issues. 

 
 Members then thanked the Commissioner for his in-depth presentation and responses to 

questions and commented on the excellent working relationship between Caerphilly Council, 
the Commissioner’s Office and Gwent Police.  Reference was made to the recent successful 
launch of the Victims’ Hub, which will have a beneficial effect across the county borough and 
also to Mr Johnston’s contribution to the work of the Caerphilly Local Service Board.  
Members were pleased that the feedback from the last meeting had been of use to the 
Commissioner, and hoped that the comments received at Council would continue to assist in 
the effective policing of Caerphilly County Borough. 

 
 The Mayor thanked the Police and Crime Commissioner for his attendance and valued 

contribution to the meeting and Mr Johnston, together with his Chief Executive, Mrs Shelley 
Bosson, left the meeting at this point. 

 
 
 REPORTS REFERRED FROM CABINET 
 
 Consideration was given to the following reports referred from Cabinet. 
 
 
10. ANTI POVERTY STRATEGY 
 
 The report was presented to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 2nd June 2015 

and thereafter Cabinet on 3rd June 2015.  Subject to the inclusion of additional information 
within the Anti Poverty Strategy arising from Members’ comments during consideration of the 
report, the recommendations therein were unanimously endorsed at both meetings. 

 
 
 

Page 5



Council – 09.06.2015 

 The report sought Members’ approval of a proposed Anti Poverty Strategy within Caerphilly 
County Borough Council.  The Council delivers a significant programme of work that 
contributes to tackling poverty.  However, there are still individuals and households living in 
poverty and an Anti Poverty Strategy has therefore been developed to set out the Council’s 
position, aims, actions and measures in relation to tackling poverty and to bring together that 
activity at a high level.   

 
 The draft Strategy has been the subject of consultation and a final draft version, together with 

consultation comments, was appended to the report for Members’ views and approval.  It is 
intended that the Strategy will be reviewed annually and progress reported to Members.  It is 
also proposed that an Anti Poverty Board be established to provide oversight of the Strategy. 

 
 It was reported to Cabinet that the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee offered 

comments on four aspects of the draft Anti Poverty Strategy, which were detailed within a 
covering report tabled at Council.  These comments included a need for the Anti Poverty 
Strategy to operate within austerity measures and have regard to the consequence of further 
cuts which may undermine the strategy; a need for a more specific focus on the link between 
Health and Wellbeing and poverty; a need to target those directly affected with a view to 
influencing the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation and demonstrate improvement in these 
areas; and a need for greater clarity in relation to how successful implementation of the 
Strategy will be implemented. 

 
 Cabinet Members were advised that in response to the view of Scrutiny Committee, it was 

proposed that a working version of the Anti-Poverty Strategy would be developed with an 
additional column setting out the budget associated with each area in order to allow for more 
informed consideration of any future potential or actual changes in funding.  Cabinet were also 
informed that the proposed Anti Poverty Board would be asked to note and address the 
recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee in relation to strengthening links to health and 
well being activities, influencing the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation and in terms of 
demonstrating progress against the Anti Poverty Strategy.  

 
 Cabinet supported the comments of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee and 

requested that the lead service for each action also be identified in a working version of the 
Anti Poverty Strategy for the proposed Anti Poverty Board.  Cabinet also requested the 
inclusion of an additional performance measure in relation to improving the performance of 
those pupils in receipt of Free School Meals to include Key Stage 4 (GCSE) and this has now 
been included within the draft Strategy. 

 
 During the course of the ensuing discussion, Members congratulated Councillor Elaine 

Forehead on her appointment as the Member Anti Poverty Champion, and were pleased to 
note that the views of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee regarding the Strategy 
had been taken into consideration. 

 
 Subject to the foregoing, it was moved and seconded that the recommendation in the report 

be approved.  By a show of hands, this was unanimously agreed. 
 

RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the report, the Caerphilly County 
Borough Council Anti Poverty Strategy be endorsed. 

 
 
11. CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PLAN – IMPROVEMENT OBJECTIVES 2015/16 
 
 During the course of the discussion arising from this item, Councillor D. Bolter queried 

whether he was required to declare an interest in that he is a Council tenant.  The Interim 
Monitoring Officer confirmed that there was a specific exemption within the Members’ Code of 
Conduct relating to this matter and thus there was no need for Members to declare an interest 
on that basis. 

 

Page 6



Council – 09.06.2015 

 The Local Government Measure 2009 requires all local authorities in Wales to set and publish 
a set of priorities called Improvement Objectives.  The Wales Audit Office will use these to 
evaluate the Council's likelihood of improvement and following that, the level of actual 
improvement that is achieved for the citizens of Caerphilly.  Additionally, in 2014, the Council 
published a Corporate Plan which detailed its longer term priorities and aspirations, with this 
plan the vehicle for publishing the Improvement Objectives for 2015/16. 

 

 The Council is required to set or review its Improvement Objectives to ensure they remain 
relevant and current.  The report details the outcome of this process, which included in-depth 
public consultation, and identifies the recommended set of Priorities and Improvement 
Objectives for 2015/16.  The report was presented to Cabinet on 3rd June 2015 and it was 
unanimously agreed at that meeting that the draft Corporate Plan that details the 
Improvement Objectives for 2015/16 (and which was appended to the report) be endorsed 
and referred to Council for approval.   

 

 Members noted that reports would be produced in October 2015 against each of the 
Improvement Objectives to outline progress in these priority areas, and that this progress will 
be reported back to the relevant Scrutiny Committee for each Improvement Objective. 

 

 During the course of the debate, reference was made to the promotion of good housekeeping 
measures within corporate buildings and the progress of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 
(WHQS) programme of works in relation to two of the Improvements Objectives detailed in the 
report.  The Interim Chief Executive confirmed that housekeeping practices across corporate 
buildings would be examined with a view to implementing improvements (e.g. light switch 
timers).  The Interim Chief Executive also confirmed that there had been some slippage to the 
WHQS programme across Council housing in 2014/2015 but that a number of new processes 
were now in place and there had since been a noticeable acceleration in the rate of weekly 
internal/external works completions.   

 

 Reference was made to the Council’s Medium Term Priorities 2013-17 within the Corporate 
Plan 2015/16, which included a goal to maximise the use of the environment for health 
benefits in order to promote the benefits of an active and healthy lifestyle.  Discussion took 
place regarding the achievability of this Priority in terms of the amount of land available for 
school recreational activities.    

 

 Reference was made to the link between Improvement Objective 1 (to help people make the 
best use of their household income and manage their debts) and the Council’s Anti Poverty 
Strategy, and clarification was sought on the support available to those residents experiencing 
poverty within the private housing sector.  Officers outlined the support frameworks and 
advice services available to residents, including Communities First, Flying Start and the 
Citizens Advice Bureau.  A comment was also received in respect of widening those 
performance indicator measures relating to poverty against Improvement Objective 1 in future 
years to include tenants within the private housing sector and enable wider representation of 
the issue. 

 
 Following consideration of the report it was moved and seconded that the recommendation in 

the report be approved.  By a show of hands, this was unanimously agreed. 
 

RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the report, the Corporate Plan that 
details the Improvement Objectives for 2015/16 be endorsed. 

 
 
 REPORTS OF OFFICERS 
 

 Consideration was given to the following reports. 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Council – 09.06.2015 

12. CONTRACT ARRANGEMENTS OF INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 Chris Burns, Nicole Scammell, Gail Williams and Angharad Price declared an interest and left 
the meeting during consideration of this item.  Dave Street, Corporate Director Social 
Services, took the Interim Chief Executive’s chair for the remainder of the meeting. 

 
 Consideration was given to the report which sought approval in respect of the future 

arrangements of the post of Interim Chief Executive in order to comply with legislative 
requirements, together with approval of the extension of the interim arrangements for the 
Director of Corporate Services and the Head of Legal Services/ Monitoring Officer.  Council’s 
approval was also sought for a further funding provision to cover the salary costs of the three 
suspended substantive post holders. 

 
 The Council is required by law to have in place a Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service.  On 

22nd July 2014, Council appointed Mr Chris Burns as Interim Chief Executive to undertake 
these duties on a fixed term contract ending on 31st August 2015.    

 
 As a result of current legal proceedings, it is now clear that interim arrangements will need to 

continue for a further period of time.  A provisional date for the main court hearing has been 
set for November 2015 but there is always the possibility that this could slip to a later date.  
The case itself is likely to take 6-8 weeks when it is convened.  In order to provide ongoing 
consistency for the Authority through this difficult period, it was proposed to extent the Interim 
Chief Executive’s contract by a further year to 31st August 2016.  The Interim Chief Executive 
has indicated his agreement to an extension of the contract for a further 12 months, subject to 
Council approval.   

 
 Interim arrangements are also in place in relation to the Director of Corporate Services and 

the Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer and it was agreed by Council on 
18th November 2014 that the Interim Chief Executive could extend both these interim 
arrangements until 31st August 2015 if necessary.  Due to the circumstances outlined within 
the report, Members were also asked to approve the extension of these interim arrangements 
for the Director of Corporate Services and the Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer until 
31st August 2016.  Members were advised that should the opportunity arise earlier to review 
these arrangements, then action can be taken to do so. 

 
 In respect of financial implications, there is a budget for a Chief Executive post, which will 

continue to fund the Interim Chief Executive.  The salary costs of the three suspended officers 
are being funded from General Fund reserves.  Council were asked to agree the allocation of 
additional funds from the General Fund balance of £278,000 to cover the salary costs of the 
three suspended officers to 31st August 2016.  There are no additional costs arising from the 
interim arrangements as these are being met through the existing budgets for the substantive 
post holders. 

 
 Reference was made to the ongoing legal proceedings and it was noted that in consultation 

with the Chair of the Council’s Investigating and Disciplinary Committee, a letter had been 
sent to the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) to express the dissatisfaction of Members 
regarding the ongoing delay to the trial date.  A reply had been received from the CPS 
outlining procedural issues within the legal system as the reason for the delay. 

 
 A query was raised in respect of the legal consultation afforded to the report and whether a 

named Officer should be included in the list of report consultees.  The Corporate Director of 
Social Services assured Members that there had been appropriate legal discussion prior to 
the report being brought before Council and that the comment would be taken back to the 
relevant persons to be addressed. 

 
 Members expressed concerns regarding the ongoing financial impact to the Council and 

discussion took place on this matter.  It was explained that the three substantive post holders 
remained on suspension as the Investigating and Disciplinary Committee were unable to 

Page 8



Council – 09.06.2015 

investigate the matter until the legal process was concluded.  Reference was also made to the 
processes regarding the suspended officers.  Members were respectfully reminded of the 
need to refrain from debating this matter in view of the ongoing prosecution and pending 
disciplinary investigation, and it was suggested that this could be a matter for discussion at a 
future point in time once the other proceedings are concluded. 

 
 It was moved and seconded that the recommendations in the report be approved.  By a show 

of hands, this was unanimously agreed. 
 

RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the report:-  
 
(i) as outlined in Section 4 of the report, the contract of the Interim Chief 

Executive, Mr Chris Burns, be extended for a further 12 months to 31st August 
2016; 

 
(ii) a further provision of £278,000 be funded from General Fund balances to cover 

the anticipated additional costs of the three suspended officers to 31st August 
2016; 

 
(iii) the interim arrangements for the Director of Corporate Services and the Head 

of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer be extended to 31st August 2016. 
 
 
13. QUESTIONS UNDER RULE OF PROCEDURE 10(2) 
 
 There were no questions submitted under Rule of Procedure 10(2). 
 
 
 The meeting closed at 6.37 pm 
 
 
 Approved as a correct record and subject to any amendments or corrections agreed and 

recorded in the minutes of the meeting held on 21st July 2015, they were signed by the 
Mayor. 

 
 

_______________________ 
MAYOR 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

COUNCIL - 21ST JULY 2015 
 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL DIRECTOR’S REPORT ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF SOCIAL 

CARE SERVICES 2014/2015 

 

REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES AND SECTION 151 

 OFFICER 

 

 
1.1  The attached report, which detailed the key messages that had been identified in the 

preparation of the sixth Annual Director’s Report on the Effectiveness of Social Care Services, 
was presented to the meeting of the Health Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee on 
23rd June 2015. 

 
1.2 Members were advised that the process of compiling the report has been undertaken in 

accordance with the Annual Council Reporting Framework.  It will be the sixth Annual 
Director’s Report and its aim is to provide a summary outlining the effectiveness of how CCBC 
delivers Social Services to its citizens.  The report provides details on the Directorate’s 
performance for 2014-2015 and the priority areas for development in 2015-16.  In 2014-15 the 
Directorate set itself a number of specific divisional priorities. The progress achieved in 
relation to these priorities is shown throughout the document. 

 
1.3 The Directorate has also identified a number of priority areas for development in 2015-16.  

These are also shown throughout the document and have informed the Directorate’s Annual 
Service Plan for 2015-16.  Following presentation to Council on 21st July 2015, the Annual 
Director’s Report will be made available to members of the public, partner agencies and 
stakeholders by the statutory deadline of 1st September 2015. 

 
1.4 After due consideration, it was recommended that the Annual Director’s Report on the 

Effectiveness of Social Care Services 2014-15 be noted and the report be submitted to 
Council on 21st July 2015 for adoption. 

 
1.5 Members are asked to consider the recommendation.   
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Report to Health Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee on 23rd June 2015 
  - Agenda item 8 refers  
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

HEALTH, SOCIAL CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 

23RD JUNE 2015 

 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL DIRECTOR’S REPORT ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF SOCIAL 

CARE SERVICES 2014-15 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
1.1 To inform the Health, Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee (HSCWB) of the key 

messages that has been identified in the preparation of the sixth Annual Director’s Report on 
the Effectiveness of Social Care Services. 

 
1.2 To seek the views of the committee on the report prior to presentation to Council on 21st July 

2015. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 In June 2009, the Welsh Assembly Government issued Statutory Guidance on the Role and 

Accountabilities of the Director of Social Services. The Guidance sets out a requirement for 
Directors of Social Services to report annually to the Council on the performance of Social 
Services functions, and plans for further improvement. The process of compiling the report 
has been undertaken in accordance with the Annual Council Reporting Framework. This 
framework has been devised by the Social Services Improvement Agency, in conjunction with 
the Welsh Government, and provides a structure for the compilation of the Annual Report. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 

 
3.1 Statutory Guidance on the Role and Accountabilities of the Director of Social Services (Welsh 

Government, June 2009). 
 
3.2  Annual Council Reporting Framework (Social Services Improvement Agency, 2009). 
 
3.3 Local Authority Social Services Inspection, Evaluation and Review Framework (Care and 

Social Services Inspectorate, April 2009). 
 
3.4  Wales Programme for Improvement (Wales Audit Office, 2002). 
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 This will be the sixth Annual Director’s Report for Caerphilly County Borough Council. The aim 

of the report is to provide a summary outlining the effectiveness of how Caerphilly County 
Borough Council delivers Social Services to its citizens. The Report provides details on the 
Directorates performance for 2014-15 and the priority areas for development in 2015-16. 

Page 13



4.2  In 2014-15 the Directorate set itself a number of specific divisional priorities.  The progress 
achieved in relation to these priorities is shown throughout the document. 

 

4.3 The Directorate has also identified a number of priority areas for development in 2015-16.  
These are also shown throughout the document and have informed the Directorates Annual 
Service Plan for 2015-16. 

 
4.4 In terms of this years annual report CSSIW have specified five specific areas that they expect 

to see covered in the report. These are: 
 

• Preventative and early intervention services (for both children and adults) 

• Progress with plans for the integration of health and social care services for older people 
with complex needs.  

• Looked after children: in particular the quality and effectiveness of strategies to support 
looked after children and success in securing ‘permanency’ for children. 

• Progress in responding to the requirements of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) 
Act. 

• Summary of budget for 2015-16 and any proposed reductions or realignment of service 
provision. 

 
4.5 Following presentation to Council on 21st July 2015, the Annual Director’s Report will be 

made available to members of the public, partner agencies and stakeholders by the statutory 
deadline of 1st September 2015. 

 
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 This report is for information purposes and therefore the Council's Equality Impact 

Assessment process does not need to be applied. 
 
 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 The 2015-16 priority areas for development set out within the Annual Director’s Report are 

aligned with the Social Services Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
 
 
7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 The 2015-16 priority areas for development highlighted within the report are aligned with the 

MTFP.  Workforce management issues identified within the MTFP will be managed as part of 
this process. 

 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS 

 
8.1 In order to produce the Annual Director’s Report a wide range of information sources are 

taken into account.  For 2014-15 the Social Services Self Evaluation document was a major 
contributor.  Information captured as part of the self evaluation process includes feedback 
from our customers and regulators/inspectors.  This feedback has been incorporated into the 
Annual Directors Report where relevant. 

 
 
9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 The HSCWB Scrutiny Committee are requested to note the contents of the Annual Director’s 

Report on the Effectiveness of Social Care Services 2014-2015 and offer its view(s) prior to 
submission to Council on 21st July 2015 for their adoption.  

Page 14



10. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
10.1 To ensure that the HSCWB Scrutiny Committee is fully informed on issues pertaining to the 

Annual Director’s Report on the Effectiveness of Social Care Services 2014-15. 
 
10.2 Statutory guidance requires the Corporate Director Social Services to present the Annual 

Report to Council for their adoption. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 Statutory Guidance on the Role and Accountabilities of the Director of Social Services (Welsh 

Government, June 2009). 
 
 
Author: Dave Street, Corporate Director Social Services 
Consultees: Social Services Senior Management Team 
 Councillor Robin Woodyatt, Cabinet Member Social Services 
 Corporate Management Team 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1: DRAFT Annual Director’s Report on the Effectiveness of Social Care Services 2014-15. 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



ANNUAL DIRECTOR’S REPORT ON THE  
EFFECTIVENESS OF SOCIAL CARE SERVICES   

2014-2015

A greener place to live, work and visit      
Man gwyrddach i fyw, gweithio ac ymweld

P
a
g
e
 1

7



www.caerphilly.gov.uk/socialservicesacrf

P
a

g
e
 1

8



3

Contents

Section Page

41 Director’s Introduction  

297 Where to Find Out More

52 Cabinet Member for Social Services   

63 Social Services Outcomes

74 Our Performance & Priorities 

265 Links to Corporate Priorities & Improvement Objectives

286 Conclusion 

P
a
g
e
 1

9



S
e

c
tio

n 1 Director’s Introduction

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

4

Dave Street
Corporate Director  

Social Services

As the Corporate Director Social Services I am pleased to present the  

sixth Annual Director’s Report for Caerphilly County Borough Council’s 

Directorate of Social Services.

The purpose of my report is to outline the challenges we have faced in 

2014-15, how well we have delivered our services in the last year and  

what our priorities for improvement are for 2015-2016.

Like many public bodies the #nancial climate for Caerphilly County  

Borough Council has been extremely challenging. However the  

directorate has managed its budget well, with an underspend projected 

for the 2014-15 #nancial year, which places the directorate in a relatively 

positive #nancial position. The achievement of a sound #nancial position 

is testimony to the hard work of all those working within Social services.  

Unfortunately the #nancial picture for 2015-16 is not an improving one  

and will continue to test our capability and capacity to deliver quality 

services within the County borough.

On 25th February 2015 a special council meeting was held to agree 

the 2015-16 budget which included a range of agreed savings for the 

Directorate of Social Services totaling £3.128m. The majority of these  

savings will be achieved by reviewing the way we deliver our services  

and having in place good vacancy management practices. 

A strategic priority for the Directorate over the coming years will be the 

implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  

The Act will come into place in April 2016 and will transform the way  

social care services are delivered across Wales. Work has already started 

within the Directorate to assess our ‘preparedness’ for implementation,  

and while there are areas for development, in general the Directorate #nds 

itself well placed to manage the changes the new Act will bring.

In 2014-15 our Children’s Services Division underwent a National Inspection in 

relation to ‘Safeguarding and Care Planning of Looked After Children and Care 

Leavers Who Exhibit Vulnerable or Risky Behaviours’. The aim of the national 

inspection was to assess the quality of care planning across Wales and whether 

it e"ectively, supports and protects Looked After Children (LAC) and care leavers, 

identi#es and manages their vulnerabilities and risky behaviour, promotes rights  

based practice and the voice of the child, promotes improved outcomes and 

promotes compliance with policy and guidance. The #ndings of the Inspection  

report for Caerphilly identi#ed many positive areas of practice, however a number of 

areas for improvement were also noted around, for example, partnership working, 

quality assurance and commissioning systems and how we gather feedback from  

our children and young people. A comprehensive Action plan has been developed  

to address these issues and will be a key priority for the Directorate in 2015-16.

In November 2014 a national report was launched by the Older People’s 

Commissioner for Wales ‘A Place to Call Home? - A Review into the Quality of 

Life and Care of Older People living in Care Homes in Wales’. This Review was 

the biggest inquiry ever undertaken in Wales into the quality of life and care 

of older people in care homes and the lives they live. The overall conclusion 

of the Review was that too many older people living in care homes have an 

unacceptable quality of life and the view of what constitutes ‘acceptable’ 

needs to shift signi#cantly.  While the report made for hard reading, we are 

committed to ensuring that changes are made where necessary and providing 

the best quality of life for those living in our care homes, in whatever way that 

is de#ned by an individual older person. The Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act 2014 and the forthcoming Regulation and Inspection Bill will 

provide a background against which the actions will need to be undertaken.

Finally I would like to take the opportunity to thank all sta", carers and elected 

members for their commitment and support over the past year in helping to 

continue to improve and deliver our services.

P
a

g
e
 2

0



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 2

Robin Woodyatt
Councillor

5

Cabinet Member for Social Services

In Caerphilly county borough the demand for social care is rising, placing 

pressure on social care services and budgets. In order to respond to these 

challenges the Social Services Directorate and Council Members are  

working hard to recon#gure services that allow people to live  

independently for longer in their own homes and participate as fully as 

possible in the life of their communities. Local authorities have also been 

challenged as part of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

to develop preventative measures that can defer or delay people becoming 

reliant on longer term services. 

In addition to our changing demographics and increasing demand, the 

requirement to make e$ciency savings place a further pressure on the 

Directorates resources. For Social Services in 2015-16 the Council agreed 

e$ciency savings totalling £3.128m and while some di$cult decisions 

required to be made, ensuring value for money and maintaining the best 

possible service for service users was our primary consideration. I am 

con#dent that the decisions taken puts in place a sound and prudent 

#nancial framework that will support service delivery for the future.

In February 2015, Caerphilly hosted the 10th Looked After Children Awards 

to celebrate the achievements of looked after children and care leavers. 

Representatives from Caerphilly County Borough Council’s Children’s 

Services, Education and Health worked together to arrange two award 

ceremonies for children of all ages to attend with their foster carers.  These 

events were packed with fun and games to recognise and celebrate the 

hard earned achievements of the prize winners.

Looking forward, 2015-16 will continue to present challenges for the 

Directorate such as pressures around implementation of Deprivation 

of Liberty Safeguards, alterations to the way in which the Independent 

Living Fund is administered and the ongoing implementation of the Social 

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act. However, as the Cabinet Member for 

Social Services I am con#dent that the people within the county borough 

will continue to have access to high quality care and support when they 

need it.

On behalf of residents of the county borough I wish to thank all members 

of sta" for the services they provide to our most vulnerable people.

P
a
g
e
 2

1



S
e

c
tio

n 3 Social Services Outcomes

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

Performance  

& Business 

Management 
Responding  

to need 

Resource  

Management 

Safeguarding

Corporate,  

Political  

Leadership  

& SupportCommissioning 

& Partnerships

O

U

R

P

E

R

F

O

R

M

A

N

C

E

Over the past few years we have been working hard towards the achievement of a set of speci#c outcomes. These outcomes are ‘conditions of well-being’ that we want to achieve for our 

service users, carers and sta".  My report this year has been developed around these outcomes and I hope to show you how we in Social Services have performed against them.

There are 20 outcomes grouped as follow:

6

People are able to #nd information about available services.

Adults/Children are listened to and understood and are at the centre of 

making changes to their lives.

Where people are eligible, they receive a good and timely response to their needs.

People have up to date good quality sustainable care plans that ensure their 

needs are met.

Carers are supported e"ectively so that they can lead ful#lling lives alongside 

their caring responsibilities.

People are supported to be as independent as possible, and to develop life 

skills, including access to universal and community based services, training and 

employment opportunities.

All adults/children are treated equally and have their diversity respected  

and promoted.

People will be able to #nd out where and how to get hold of the help they 

need when someone may be at risk.

Adults/Children are supported by sta" from all agencies who understand  

and carry out their safeguarding responsibilities e"ectively.

Adults/Children are protected from harm and abuse wherever possible.

People are able to access services which are carefully planned in the short and 

medium term, and which are available at the right time, in the right place and 

at the right price.

In all our planning we; 

 listen carefully to service users and carers.  

 work collaboratively across all partners and providers.  

 rely on sound evidence about needs and about e"ectiveness.

Adults/Children are protected from harm and abuse wherever possible.

A Quality Assurance Framework is in 

place which informs organisational 

learning and development.

Planning, management and delivery  

of services is supported with reliable 

and timely information.

All sta" have aims that are linked to 

business plans and organisational priorities.

The work force has the capacity and 

skills to respond to the changing needs 

of our population.

Our workforce is recruited, managed, 

and developed e"ectively to deliver the 

best possible outcomes for services users.

Sustainable #nancial plans deliver 

strategic objectives and best possible 

value for money.

Members and senior managers with 

corporate responsibilities understand 

the role and function of social services, 

how well services meet local needs 

and give them appropriate priority.

Members and senior managers with 

direct responsibility for social services 

provide a clear sense of direction, 

and establish a culture of open 

communication, continuous learning, 

and accountability, keeping in close 

touch with the “front-line”.

P
a

g
e
 2

2



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

Mar 2014
0

20

40

60

80

100

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

Apr 2014 May 2014 Jun 2014 Jul 2014 Aug 2014 Sep 2014 Oct 2014 Nov 2014 Dec 2014 Jan 2015 Feb 2015

ActualTarget Intervention Previous years Actual Previous years Welsh AverageKEY

R
a

te

Mar 2014
0

50

100

150

200

Apr 2014 May 2014 Jun 2014 Jul 2014 Aug 2014 Sep 2014 Oct 2014 Nov 2014 Dec 2014 Jan 2015 Feb 2015

ActualTarget Intervention Previous years Actual Previous years Welsh AverageKEY

7

Fact:

Did you know 

in 2014-15 

there were 

19,049 contacts 

recorded by the 

Adult Services 

Duty and 

Information 

Team and 

11,972 contacts 

received by 

Children’s 

Services.

4.1 Responding to Need
The Directorate of Social Services has 20 National Indicators that are 

comparable across the 22 Local Authorities in Wales. We have listed  

below some examples of where we are performing well from the  

National suite of performance measures and where we are working to 

improve our performance.

SCA/002a The rate of older people supported in the community 

aged 65 or over 

Although the rate of older people has reduced slightly, this is in fact a 

good news story as it illustrates the impact that the Frailty programme, 

community connectors and volunteer coordinators are having in terms 

of enabling people to be independent in the community rather than 

being dependent on services. The Directorates’ focus on signposting 

people means that the future targets for this area will be lower than in 

previous years.

SCA/020 The percentage of adult clients who are supported in the 

community during the year

 
Out of the 7,320 adult clients, 6717 (91.8%) were supported in the 

community during 2014-15.  

 

Our position remains well  

above the all Wales average.

P
a
g
e
 2

3



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

Mar 2014
0

20

40

60

100

80

120

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

Apr 2014 May 2014 Jun 2014 Jul 2014 Aug 2014 Sep 2014 Oct 2014 Nov 2014 Dec 2014 Jan 2015 Feb 2015

ActualTarget Intervention Previous years Actual Previous years Welsh AverageKEY

Mar 2014
0

20

40

60

100

80

120

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

Apr 2014 May 2014 Jun 2014 Jul 2014 Aug 2014 Sep 2014 Oct 2014 Nov 2014 Dec 2014 Jan 2015 Feb 2015

ActualTarget Intervention Previous years Actual Previous years Welsh AverageKEY

8

SCC/041a % of eligible children that have pathway plans

Out of the 116 eligible children all (100%) had pathway plans in place. 

SCA/001 Rate of DTOC for social care reasons aged 75 plus

While we are performing well on the majority of our performance 

measures, the Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) for Social Care  

reasons indicator continues to be challenging, however signi#cant 

improvements have been made this year.  

 

Maintaining high performance levels will remain a priority for  

the Directorate. 

 

The rate of DToC for social care reasons for February 2015 was 5.35  

(per 1,000) of the population. This #gure equates to 3 people compared 

to 12 people at the end of March 2014. This measure has steadily 

improved over the year as shown in the graph above. 

A number of improvements have been made to the DToC process 

including more thorough validation and closer working with our 

Health colleagues, for example, the Joint Hospital discharge team are 

now responsible for contracts for long term care which speeds up the 

discharge process and the Intermediate Care Fund has been used to 

develop schemes to look at winter pressures to reduce lengths of stay  

in hospital and DToC. 

The challenge going forward will be to maintain these high standards,  

greater validation and continue our good working relationships with 

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board.

P
a

g
e
 2

4



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

9

What we’ve done in 2014 - 2015

Children’s Services have completed a number of activities to strengthen 

and improve the quality and e"ectiveness of assessment and care 

planning, these include restructuring teams to minimise transfer points 

for families, o"er &exibility so that &uctuating demands across the county 

borough can be managed and creation of a dedicated senior practitioner 

role to over see LAC/Child protection/Public Law Outline (PLO) planning 

and to undertake a quality assurance role in respect of this.

The service is also part of the national pilot for exploring how personal 

outcomes for people who need care and support in Wales are aggregated. 

This will be piloted within teams working in the North of the county borough.

In June 2014 the Adult Services Duty Information Team and the Children’s 

Services Contact and Referral team merged to form the Information, 

Advice and Assistance (IAA) Service reporting to one Team Manager. In 

September 2014 two Senior Social Work Practitioners from Adult and 

Children’s Services commenced duties with the new team. 

A recon#gured ‘Team Around the Family’ model has been developed by a 

multi-agency task and #nish group and agreed by the Families First Board. As 

a result the ‘Team Around the Family’ and ‘Supporting Family Change’ Projects 

have been merged and managed by a single manager. Support workers within 

the team are now able to be allocated as lead professionals and provide one to 

one support to families. The new team is called ‘Supporting Family Change’.

In September 2014 a proposal was put forward that would see the 

creation of an Integrated Service for Disabled Children and Young People. 

Since this time plans have been put in place to co-locate the Children 

with Disability Team in the Children’s Centre by end of calendar year in 

order to enhance access to services and the exchange of information 

and skills across professional boundaries. There is a need to invest in the 

IT infrastructure in order to support the Team’s move but the long term 

bene#ts will more than outweigh the immediate costs. Building on the 

success of the Integrated Service for Children with Additional Needs 

(ISCAN), it is proposed to develop a single point of contact/one stop 

shop for families, parents and carers which will have strong links to the 

Family Information Service, Contact and Referral Service and Families First 

Services. All referrals for disability services will be considered by ISCAN in 

order to reduce duplication and ensure e"ective use of resources.

Within Adult Services the review of the Gwent Frailty Programme has 

con#rmed the direction of travel and focus on prevention of admission to 

hospital via rapid intervention from both Health and Social Care services. 

As a result a pilot commenced early in 2014 regarding the development 

of an Elderly Frail Unit (EFU) at Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr Hospital for rapid 

intervention by the Community Resource Team (CRT) sta". Following a 

review of the pilot an EFU was established and is running successfully. 

The Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) has been used to appoint Community 

Connectors (One Senior Community Connector, three Community 

Connectors, three Community Connectors for Carers) to operate as part of 

the IAA service to identify and develop community based services to enable 

people to remain independent and meet their own needs. The Community 

Connectors work with people who are deemed to be socially isolated, the 

ethos being to respond appropriately to members of the public in the right 

place, at the right time, with the right service. Interventions are increasing 

thus reducing the need for statutory intervention. The ICF has also been 

used to provide step up/step down beds to enable people to remain in 

their own homes for as long as possible by providing accurate assessments 

and interventions via a small dedicated multi-professional team. 

P
a
g
e
 2

5



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

10

The Council website has been redesigned which includes a Community 

Directory. This Directory provides a wealth of information to residents of 

the county borough on a number of services, organisations and groups 

within the area. This Community Directory will be continually updated in 

order to ensure that people are able to access good quality information 

and advice to assist them to resolve their own problems. The Community 

Directory will also be a vital information point for professionals in order to 

reduce dependency on statutory services.

The pilot Mental Health Initiative ‘Listen, Engage, Act and Participate’ (LEAP) in 

the north of the county borough was developed to test new ways of working 

with people with mental health needs. A multi-agency team including a wide 

range of competencies has been established with a principle of working with 

individuals in a di"erent way, focussing on what is important to them and 

setting outcomes related to this. It is now in the second phase of the pilot, 

the #rst phase was successful and an interim report produced to inform phase 

two. On completion of phase two, which is due to complete in June 2015, 

a #nal evaluation report will inform the future shape and delivery of Adult 

Mental Health. Whilst too early to tell, we believe that the LEAP initiative 

will help us to better understand the kind and type of service provision and 

competencies that will be needed to deliver future mental health services.

The Carers Assessment documentation has been amended to make it more user 

friendly and understandable for the Carer and more focused on what the client 

feels meets their needs and what actions where agreed during the discussion.  

The System Testing and Redesign Team (START) completed the initial 

testing phase in April 2014. It was then decided that it was necessary to 

extended this way of working to a bigger area in order to further test this 

new approach. The team worked with 220 individuals to fully evidence 

the bene#ts to service users of this way of working. In addition, learning in 

respect of unnecessary duplication and ways to reduce bureaucracy has 

been shared with teams across adult services, freeing up sta" capacity and 

allowing more time to explore with individuals what matters most to them.   

In October 2014 the team commenced a learning and development 

programme to a wider group of sta" within adult services as the start of 

expanding this way of working to all sta" within adult services.

What our Regulators Told Us

In the 2013-14 Annual Performance Report prepared by our Regulators the Care 

and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) they highlighted that we should: 

Interrogate the reasons for delayed discharge and put in place 

strategies to monitor and improve the progress of this:

 In response to their comments, in 2014-15 we have:

  Agreed a joint action plan with Aneurin Bevan University Health 

Board regarding winter pressures.

  Held meetings with Prince Charles Hospital regarding out of county 

hospital placements. 

  Provided monthly information to the Welsh Government on our 

performance. 

  Redeployed sta" as and when required to meet need.

  Co-located the Age Concern Hospital Discharge team and the Joint 

Hospital Discharge Team

  Improved the pull on and use of the Emergency Care at Home service

The changes have resulted in a reduction of 60% in number of DToC’s for 

social care reasons over the year.

P
a

g
e
 2

6



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

11

Continue to develop methods for supporting and developing 

skills of foster carers:

 In response to their comments, in 2014-15 we have:

  Recruited an additional 24 foster carers over a two year period 

instead of three years as originally planned.

  Developed a dedicated role to provide continuity of worker through 

the early stages of the foster carer process.

  Reviewed the ‘Foster Carer Recruitment Strategy’ with a plan to re-

launch by April 2015.

  Reviewed the role of the Career Carer to ensure carers are taking on 

the more challenging placements and delivering against their core 

competency requirements.

Feedback regarding support provided to Foster Carers continues to be positive.

Continue to develop outcome measures for new services:

 In response to their comments, in 2014-15 we have:

  Implemented ‘Outcome Webs’ within the START and LEAP projects. 

An ‘Outcome Web’ is used to capture speci#c personal outcomes, and 

for those who have outcome webs, to be integral in identifying and 

agreeing their personal outcomes, to recognise where they are, where 

they would like to be, and what steps they need to take to get there.

  Participated in the Welsh Government technical group regarding the 

National Outcomes Framework.

  Become a pilot authority for the Social Services Improvement 

Agency (SSIA) National Outcomes Framework development, which 

will require a whole system approach to new cases referred to the 

Directorate. The pilot operates in our Children’s Services North 

Cluster area and started in January 2015.

From March to June 2014 a Review of the Gwent Frailty 

Programme (GFP) was undertaken by Cordis Bright. The results 

published in September 2014 concluded that:

  People are receiving a very good service, which is timely, responsive 

and helps them to achieve their aspirations for remaining independent. 

  Overall, stakeholders think that the service has reduced pressure on 

acute services and is e"ective at both avoiding hospital admissions 

in the #rst place and reducing length of stay.

  Stakeholders are overwhelmingly of the view that the direction of 

travel is right.

However the Review also identi"ed that:

  The programme has not achieved cashable savings as envisaged

  Management of the service is not as e"ective as it could be

  The impact on hospital admissions, length of stay and DTOC, 

residential and nursing care admissions and intensive home care 

packages is not yet proven. 

  There is considerable room for improvement regarding to the information 

currently collected for evidence-led decision-making and service planning.

The Gwent Frailty Partnership will lead on the development and 

implementation of an action plan that will take this work forward and 

address the recommendations arising from the Review.

P
a
g
e
 2

7



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

12

In November 2014 a national report was launched by the Older 

People’s Commissioner for Wales ‘A Place to Call Home? 

A Review into the Quality of Life and Care of Older People living in Care 

Homes in Wales’. This Review was the biggest inquiry ever undertaken in 

Wales into the quality of life and care of older people in care homes and 

the lives they live. The Review concluded that too many older people 

living in care homes have an unacceptable quality of life and the view of 

what constitutes ‘acceptable’ needs to shift signi#cantly. A comprehensive 

action plan has been developed from which the Directorate will be 

actively working towards.  

What we’re going to do in 2015 – 2016

Our priorities for the year ahead in connection with this area will be:

Priority Why is this a priority? What e#ect will it have?

Implementation of the Social Services and  

Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

This is a legislative requirement. Ensures compliance with legislation.

Respond to the changes in the Supporting 

People Programme.

There has been a reduction in the grant awarded to the Local 

Authority and changes in legislation regarding homelessness.

Ensure the service has a managed 

reduction in resource levels and 

supports the legislative changes.

Embed practice regarding Deprivation of 

Liberty Safeguards and Mental Capacity Act.

This is a legislative requirement. Ensures compliance with legislation and 

improved service delivery.

Improve Quality in Care. This is a National priority linked to the Commissioner for Older 

People’s Report ‘A Place to Call Home’.

Improved service delivery.

Responding to PLO. The demands of the PLO include pre-proceedings work, 

achieving 26 week timescales and criticisms from Court.

Maintain performance and professional 

reputation of the Council.

Revision of the Foster Carer Recruitment 

Strategy.

We need to improve recruitment and approval rates to provide 

more placement choices.

An increase in the numbers of Foster 

Carers.

P
a

g
e
 2

8



Mar 2014
0

20

40

60

80

120

100

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

Apr 2014 May 2014 Jun 2014 Jul 2014 Aug 2014 Sep 2014 Oct 2014 Nov 2014 Dec 2014 Jan 2015 Feb 2015

ActualTarget Intervention Previous years Actual Previous years Welsh AverageKEY

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

13

Mar 2014
0

20

40

60

80

100

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

Apr 2014 May 2014 Jun 2014 Jul 2014 Aug 2014 Sep 2014 Oct 2014 Nov 2014 Dec 2014 Jan 2015 Feb 2015

ActualTarget Intervention Previous years Actual Previous years Welsh AverageKEY

4.2 Safeguarding
Safeguarding remains at the very heart of everything we do. Social 

care plays an important role in helping children, young people and 

adults with care and support needs to live full lives, free from abuse and 

neglect. This includes preventing abuse, minimising risk and responding 

proportionately where abuse or neglect has occurred.

We have listed below some examples of where we are performing 

well from the National suite of performance measures:

SCC/001a % of LAC that began with a care plan in place

 
For the past #ve years 100% of #rst placements for LAC have began with 

care plans in place. Maintaining this performance level is noteworthy given 

there has been an increase in the LAC from 125 #rst placements in 2014-15 

compared to 92 in 2013-14.  

SCC/021 % of LAC reviews carried out within 

statutory timescales

Out of 495 LAC reviews, 467 have been carried out within statutory 

timescales, which equates to 94.30%. 

Fact:

Did you know 

that over the 

last 3 years the 

percentage 

of Looked 

After Children 

achieving the 

core subject 

indicator in key 

stage 2 and 3 

has increased 

year on year.

P
a
g
e
 2

9



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

14

SCA/019 % of adult protection referrals completed 

where the risk has been managed

Out of 347 adult protection referrals, 295 referrals were managed for risk, 

which equates to 85%.  The remaining 15% of cases not managed are 

those where no consent was given, primarily victims of domestic abuse,  

or where it was found that no abuse occurred and therefore no risks to  

be managed. 

What we’ve done in 2014 - 2015

The Adult Services Protection of Vulnerable Adult (PoVA) Team are 

currently working on streamlining processes within the service.   

A process mapping day was held with the team where areas for 

improvement were identi#ed and suggestions made on how best to 

proceed. Some of the suggestions for improvement included making 

changes to the existing referral form. The new form is currently being 

piloted. A training programme for use across the organisation has  

also been developed. 

The PoVA team working with our Development O$cer for Older People 

undertook an exercise to see whether POVA safeguarding training could 

be more e"ectively delivered to vulnerable adult groups through ‘Peer to 

Peer’ presentations and discussion. The ‘Peer to Peer’ nature of this project 

was designed to acknowledge that people often learn better from 

someone they can relate to or share common ground with. 

The Caerphilly County Borough 50+ Forum were invited to be a key 

partner and three members volunteered to be our ‘Peer to Peer’ trainers. 

In addition to the training, and as a way of targeting those who could be 

socially isolated and vulnerable, a DVD was created called ‘Keeping Safe -  

What is Abuse and Who Can Help’. The DVD has been well received and 

we are now developing a fully bilingual version.

Within Children’s Services a recent service recon#guration included 

the creation of a dedicated Senior Practitioner role in each Locality 

Team to oversee LAC/Child Protection/PLO planning.  

These post holders will undertake a  

critical quality assurance role on  

behalf of the service and will  

act as important links between 

the Courts and the Local 

Authority. In addition, PLO 

Business Process &owcharts 

and associated paperwork 

has been reviewed and 

re-issued to all sta".

Mar 2014
0

20

40

60

80

100

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

Apr 2014 May 2014 Jun 2014 Jul 2014 Aug 2014 Sep 2014 Oct 2014 Nov 2014 Dec 2014 Jan 2015 Feb 2015

ActualTarget Intervention Previous years Actual Previous years Welsh AverageKEY

P
a

g
e
 3

0



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

What we’re going to do in 2015 – 2016

Our priorities for the year ahead in connection with this area will be:

Priority Why is this a priority? What e#ect will it have?

Consider the development of a cross 

Directorate Safeguarding Unit.

This links closely to the Medium Term Financial Plan and 

discussions around the development of a Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub with partners.

Improved service delivery and potential 

Directorate savings.

Implementation of CSSIW LAC Inspection 

Action Plan.

Regulatory Inspection identi#ed areas for development which 

need to be implemented.

Improved service delivery and successful 

completion of all identi#ed actions.

15

What our Regulators Told Us

In the 2013-14 Annual Performance Report prepared by our Regulators 

(CSSIW) they highlighted that we should:

Examine factors contributing to the rise in children placed on 

the Child Protection Register

 In response to their comments, in 2014-15 we have:

  Investigated the rise in number of children on the Child Protection 

Register, and while there is no obvious reason, there have been a few 

large sibling groups registered which can a"ect #gures. However, it 

is important to put the recent reported rise into an historical context. 

The average number over the last two years is 191 within a range of 

164 to 216. The highest monthly rise has been 18 new registrations 

and largest drop has been 15 de-registrations. The rate currently is 

downwards from 216 in August 2014 to 194 as at February 2015.

In 2014-15 our Children’s Services Division underwent a National 

Inspection in relation to ‘Safeguarding and Care Planning of Looked  

After Children and Care Leavers Who Exhibit Vulnerable or Risky 

Behaviours’. The aim of the national inspection was to assess the quality 

of care planning across Wales and whether it e"ectively, supports and 

protects LAC and care leavers, identi#es and manages their vulnerabilities 

and risky behaviour, promotes rights based practice and the voice of the 

child, promotes improved outcomes and promotes compliance with 

policy and guidance. 

The #ndings of the Inspection report for Caerphilly identi#ed many 

positive areas of practice, however a number of areas for improvement 

were also noted around, for example, partnership working, quality 

assurance and commissioning systems, and how we gather feedback 

from our children and young people. A comprehensive Action plan has 

been developed to address these issues and will be a key priority for the 

Directorate in 2015-16.

P
a
g
e
 3

1



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

16

4.3 Performance &  

 Business Management
A key development across the whole of Caerphilly county borough council 

this year has been the introduction of ‘Self Evaluation’.  Self Evaluation 

means, using a range of data and intelligence to evaluate your area of 

work and to draw a conclusion as to how e"ective your service is.   

In brief, self-evaluation is designed to answer two key questions -  

How well are we doing? And how do we know?

Whilst Self Evaluation is not a new technique there is now more than ever 

the need to formally show how intelligence is being used to form an opinion 

about where the Directorate is and where it needs to be. Findings from 

the Directorates Self Evaluation has been used to inform the Directorates 

Service Plan for 2015-16 and the priorities set out in this report. 

In addition to our Corporate Self Assessment, the Welsh Government 

asked that we complete a Self Assessment Tool to #nd out our readiness  

to comply with the duties of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales)  

Act 2014, and to assess where we are currently placed in being able to 

implement the cross-cutting themes and strategic intent of the Act.   

The outcome of the assessment was that while there are areas for  

development, in general the Directorate #nds itself well placed to  

manage the changes the new Act will bring. 

What we’ve done in 2014 - 2015

In order to ensure that people in Caerphilly county borough continue to 

receive high quality services, the Directorate has developed a Quality Assurance  

Framework. Quality assurance is a continual and dynamic process. It is an 

improvement cycle by which we set standards, develop appropriate ways to 

make sure we’re working to those standards, review the way we work and 

#nally use the information we have to improve services.  It also helps us to 

improve our understanding of whether we are supporting our service users, 

in the right way, at the right time, and whether we are making a di"erence.

Our Quality Assurance Framework sets out:  

The quality assurance cycle and the role that all o$cers, senior o$cers 

and elected members will play in relation to the quality assurance of 

Social services; 

The range of quality assurance activities that will be undertaken; and

The arrangements for quality assurance reporting and learning.

The Quality Assurance Cycle is shown below.  

The Framework is designed to help us in a journey of continuous self-

assessment and improvement.  

A) We develop the

right standards

C) We assess and  

review our practice

D) We learn we change

B) We develop good tools

to make sure we’re working  

to those standards 

P
a

g
e
 3

2



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

17

One of the ambitions of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 

is to see a much more co-productive approach (between agencies 

and individuals) to addressing and #nding solutions to support needs. 

An underlying assumption of the Act is that too much time, skills and 

resources are spent on bureaucratic assessments. This Pilot is based on 

the belief that through a professional targeted conversation, people need 

to be and can be supported to help themselves as much as possible. 

Agreeing the outcome or ‘what matters’ issue is key to this, as it helps 

provide clear direction to all parties concerned. This method of practice 

requires practitioners to be able to facilitate complex discussions and 

assist families in identifying what needs to change and identifying their 

own outcomes.

What our Regulators Told Us

In the 2013-14 Annual Performance Report prepared by our Regulators 

(CSSIW) they highlighted that we should:

Continue to develop method/frameworks for quality review

In response to their comments, in 2014-15 we have:

  Developed a Quality Assurance Framework for use across the whole 

Directorate. 2015-16 will see its implementation.

The Social Services Improvement Agency (SSIA) is working on behalf of 

a multi stakeholder group for Welsh Government, to test the recording 

and reporting of personal outcomes within a new National Outcomes 

Framework for performance measurement in preparation for the 

implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

Caerphilly Children’s Services are part of the pilot along with six 

other authorities (Blaenau Gwent, Bridgend, Denbighshire, Flintshire, 

Monmouthshire and Neath Port Talbot). Caerphilly, Denbighshire and 

Neath Port Talbot have been identi#ed as sites for Children’s Services. 

A working group was established in September 2014 that focused on 

developing two key areas: 

1.   The tool for recording personal outcomes, baseline measurement and 

tracking progress towards achieving it; and 

2.   The agreement of a training programme to support an outcome 

based approach within operational services. 

Using the recording tool to log individual outcomes will enable Caerphilly 

and the Data Unit Wales to report to Welsh Government on how people 

are progressing towards their goal (or agreed outcomes). Importantly the 

framework will connect broad outcomes to operational changes and will 

measure the di"erence made, not what has been delivered/achieved. 

A training programme (Collaborative Communications Skills) has been 

designed for practitioners to build and develop con#dence and skills sets 

in having complex conversations with people who are often at a point 

of crisis or challenge in their lives. It is also about developing skills in 

empowering people to help themselves as much as possible.

The Children’s Services pilot will focus on Looked After Children, 

speci#cally those children and young people assessed as being at risk  

of becoming looked after or, who have become looked after as a result  

of a crisis, through to their second statutory review (i.e. 4 months and  

the plan for permanence). However locally, Caerphilly will apply the  

new way of working to all new cases in order to encourage a whole  

team approach. 

P
a
g
e
 3

3



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

18

What we’re going to do in 2015 – 2016

Our priorities for the year ahead in connection with this area will be: 

Priority Why is this a priority? What e#ect will it have?

Implement a Quality Assurance 

Framework to include consultation, 

engagement and learning from 

Complaints and Compliments.

This area for improvement was identi#ed during our Corporate Self 

Evaluation process and the need to consult regarding Medium Term 

Financial Planning. In addition we also have a revised Complaints Procedure 

that requires to be implemented.

Improved service planning and 

delivery.

Engagement in National Outcomes 

Framework Pilot.

Children’s Services is a pilot area for implementation of new performance 

measures that will be rolled out nationally.

All Wales learning from Caerphilly 

county borough experience.

4.4 Resource Management
Continued focus on budget management has helped to ensure that 

the directorate has delivered the majority of the savings targets that 

were agreed in the 2014-15 budget strategy and has helped to identify 

potential savings for inclusion in the 2015-16 budget strategy.

Despite the progress made in recent years, we do not underestimate the 

#nancial challenges that lie ahead. Management teams have identi#ed 

over £3m of potential savings for the 2015-16 #nancial year. The savings 

put forward and approved by Council in February 2015 are:

It should be noted however, that these savings proposals would leave 

very little &exibility within the directorate budget to react to any future 

additional cost pressures, such as, demand for child care placements, an 

aging population, in&ationary pressure on care fees, reductions in Welsh  

Government speci#c grant funding and the implications of legislative changes. 

General savings that have no direct impact on 

service users.
£1,568,000

Reduction of 3 social workers per division with the 

intention to achieve by vacancy management.  
£219,000

Removal of £1m of demographic growth for 2015-16. £1,000,000

Independent Sector Domiciliary Care - Elderly - 

Review of shopping service.
£40,000

Meals on Wheels – An increase of 50p per meal. £44,000

Own Day Care – Review of day centre provision. £128,000

Home Assistance and Reablement Team - Review of 

domiciliary care provision. 
£85,000

 £3,084,000

P
a

g
e
 3

4



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

19

£
 p

e
r 

h
e

a
d

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

Financial Year

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

All Wales CaerphillyKEY

51 to 60

34%

60+

8%

41 to 50

28%

31 to 40

16%

21 to 30

13%

Under 21

1%

51 to 60

21%

41 to 50

22%
31 to 40

34%

21 to 30

20%

Under 21

0%

60+

3%

This sound budget management is further evidenced through a comparison 

of the actual spend per head of population on social services across Wales as 

shown below. The most recent information for 2013-14 shows that the spend 

per head of population within Caerphilly amounted to 104.5% of the Welsh 

average in 2007-08 but has steadily reduced to 96.6% of the Welsh average  

by 2013-14. Information for 2014-15 will be available in October 2015.

Social Services Spend per Head of Population:

The key workforce planning issues for the service area over the next 12 months 

will be directly linked to the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).  Within 

the Directorate’s MTFP are various proposals for restructuring and downsizing. 

Some of these aims have already been achieved but as the management of the 

MTFP continues into 2015-16 and 2016-17, there will be a continuing trend of 

restructuring and downsizing. Workforce data for Social Services illustrates a sta" 

group that is predominantly female (86.8%) and part time. The age pro#le of the 

workforce as shown below illustrates that within Adult Services the largest group 

of our employees are aged between 51-60, while within Children’s Services are 

aged between 31-40 years. When considering any downsizing the Directorate will 

seek to ensure that no particular cohort of sta" are disproportionately a"ected. 

Adult Services Age Pro"le

Childrens Services Age Pro"le

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 will have a signi#cant 

impact in terms of how the Directorate utilises its workforce. The ‘front 

door’ of the service has already been recon#gured to ensure that the 

focus of services is in line with the main principals of the Act. 

P
a
g
e
 3

5



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

20

Further recon#gurations are also planned for teams delivering safeguarding 

outcomes. New approaches to work (i.e. START and LEAP Teams) will also 

have signi#cant workforce development implications. In this regard, we will 

need to ensure that sta" have the necessary skills to deliver the service.

What we’ve done in 2014 - 2015

Within our Children’s Services division the savings identi#ed for 2014-15  

mainly related to the deletion of some vacant posts and the recon#guration  

of both #eldwork teams and administration services. In addition, the transfer of 

the Assessment Team functions to the new larger Locality Teams immediately 

reduced the need for cases to transfer between teams. Establishment of larger 

Locality Teams ensures sustainability going forward.

Through the use of ‘Invest to Save’ funding a pilot project called the ‘The 

Immediate Response Team’ was established within Children’s Services to 

provide crisis intervention support to children, young people and families 

on the verge of breakdown, which previously often resulted in children 

entering the Looked After system. 

The team has been in operation since October 2011 and after a thorough 

evaluation it became evident that the project was saving more than 

it was costing to run, therefore the Immediate Response Team were 

awarded permanent contracts from 1st September 2014.

Achieving savings within our Adult Services division has concentrated 

largely on reviewing back o$ce structures in provider services, deleting 

vacant posts and restructuring the Home Assistance and Reablement 

Team and Day Services. The Adult services front door (ASDIT) was 

combined with the Children’s services front door to improve service 

delivery, prepare for the introduction of the Social Services and Well-being  

(Wales) Act 2014 and produce e$ciencies in terms of the number of sta" 

required to deliver the service. The Adult services and Children’s services 

Commissioning teams were also joined, taking advantages of vacant 

posts whilst ensuring service levels were maintained. Administrative posts 

were also reduced as a result of the START initiate and budgets realigned 

to re&ect actual spend in provider services.

What our Regulators and Service Users Told Us

In recent years, #nancial management within the Directorate has proved 

e"ective. Internal audits have reported that the majority of key controls 

in place are operating e"ectively. The Annual Improvement Report by 

the Wales Audit O$ce in May 2014 recognised that the Council remained 

within its budget for Social Services, but it was not complacent about the 

challenges going forward.

Throughout 2014-15 the Council and the Social Services Directorate 

conducted a wide range of consultation events with residents of 

the county borough on the budget savings proposed. Whilst no one 

service area was highlighted more than others in the comments received 

from members of the public, many noted the importance of ensuring that 

vulnerable people in the community are protected and a reduction of 

services that impact on these groups should be carefully considered.  

Some of the comments people made were: 
“I think that, in the main, it is good as vulnerable people will still be safeguarded”

“Overall, the vulnerable appear to have been protected, which is excellent.”

The Directorate is working hard to ensure that such services continue to 

be protected.

P
a

g
e
 3

6



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

What we’re going to do in 2015 – 2016

Our priorities for the year ahead in connection with this area will be: 

Priority Why is this a priority? What e#ect will it have?

Deliver the savings and service redesign required 

for the Medium Term Financial Plan.

This is a priority for all Council Directorates in order to 

manage the #nancial pressures going forward.

Achievement of the required savings will 

ensure the #nancial stability of the Council.

4.5 Commissioning & Partnership
Making sure that people are able to access our services, at the right  

time and in the right place is an essential part of what we do, and  

therefore listening to what our service users tell us is of crucial  

importance to help us get this right. One way that this is done is by 

listening to the complaints and compliments that we receive and  

making changes where necessary. 

During 2014-15, 103 representations were received. The majority of these 

were from Elected Members, MP’s and AM’s, on behalf of their constituents, 

of which 76 (74%) related to Adult Services, 25 (24%) to Children’s Services 

and 2 (2%) to the Directorate’s Service Strategy and Business Support 

Service area.

During 2014-15 the Directorate received 178 Stage 1 complaints and 1 

complaint that a customer wished to progress directly to Stage 2. The 

majority of the complaints were resolved to the customer’s satisfaction 

at Stage 1. Of the 178 complaints received at Stage 1, 95 (54%) related 

to Children’s Services, 73 (41%) to Adult Services and 8 (5%) to Service 

Strategy and Business Support.

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
o

m
p

la
in

ts

2006-2007 2007-2008 2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015
0

50

100

250

300

241

200

150

181 195

230
201 206

185 188
178

The graph below illustrates the trend of Stage 1 complaints received and 

responded to by the Directorate since the implementation of the Listening 

and Learning Guidance in April 2006. 

During 2014-15 the Directorate received 9 requests to progress complaints 

to Stage 2. Of these, 6 (67%) related to Children’s Services and 3 (33%) 

related to Adult Services. Of the 9 requests for a Stage 2 investigation, 

1 was progressed directly to stage 2 formal investigations, without the 

Directorate having the opportunity to attempt local resolution.

Stage 1 - Annual Complaints Trend 2006 - 2015

21

P
a
g
e
 3

7



N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 R

e
ce

iv
e

d

2006-2007 2007-2008 2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015
0

5

10

25

30
26

20

15 13 12

18 17

11
9

13

9

Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

22

Stage 2 - Annual Complaints Trend 2006 - 2015

There was 1 stage 2 complaint that progressed to a Stage 3 Welsh 

Government Panel in 2014-15. 

As a result of what our service users told us, the following 

changes were made in 2014-15: 

  Children’s Services have worked with the Council’s Legal department 

and Directorate and Corporate Information O$cers to review the 

Fostering agreement between the Authority and foster carers. This will 

ensure compliance with the Data Protection Act 1998 and will enhance 

the protection of personal information relating to Looked After Children.

As well as listening and acting on the complaints that the Directorate 

receives, the Customer Services team also logs the praise that we receive 

from customers about teams or individuals. 

During 2014-15 the Directorate received expressions of praise/compliments 

from 290 customers expressing their gratitude for the quality of service/ 

commitment and care from individual sta". The majority of the praise 

received relates to Adult Services, however it is recognised that the nature 

of the services provided by that Division is more likely to attract praise. 

In the coming year 2015-16 the Customer Services team will reinstate the 

practice of including statistics on compliments received in the Annual 

Complaints report. It will also record any changes that are made in 

response to positive feedback and how we have used the learning from 

compliments to improve practice, including:

  Ensuring individual sta" members and teams are recognised when 

positive feedback is received. At present, the Corporate Director writes 

to individual sta" members in cases where customer feedback identi#es 

a high level of professional commitment. 

  Reporting information on statistics and case studies in management 

brie#ngs, team meetings and in sta" bulletins.

  Using positive feedback in sta" training to cascade learning across the 

organisation.

  Reviewing and amending protocols/policies where relevant in response 

to compliments received. 

What we’ve done in 2014 - 2015

In 2014 the Social Services Directorate developed a Service User and Carer 

Engagement Strategy. This strategy was developed in recognition that 

while there are a number of areas of good practice within the Directorate 

there is a need to develop a more consistent approach to participation, 

involvement and consultation across the department which demonstrates 

that external views are considered and used in decision making, and 

makes sure that we all use the same standards so that people know what 

they can expect from us and what we expect from them. There is also a 

need to appraise the extent of service user and carer participation in all 

levels of service planning and delivery. This will be an expectation of the 

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

P
a

g
e
 3

8



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

23

Children’s Services have reviewed the Family Support Service speci#cation 

and re-tender the service in early 2014. This contract worth £504,058 per 

annum and was awarded to Barnardo’s.

On 1st April 2014 the South East Wales Adoption Service (SEWAS) covering 

the #ve Gwent Local Authorities of Blaenau-Gwent, Monmouthshire, 

Newport, Torfaen and Caerphilly was established and became fully 

operational. The new service has established itself well and continues to 

be a forerunner across Wales in terms of implementation and operational 

delivery. It is important to note that the Welsh Government have 

acknowledged the success of this regional collaborative. 

In our Adult Services division the Learning Disability Commissioning 

Strategy was signed o" at the end of March 2015 and a task and #nish 

group has been established for the Adult Mental Health Commissioning 

Strategy which is currently out for consultation.

There has been a signi#cant amount of negative press recently around 

care homes and nursing homes. However, there are examples of high 

quality care that is delivered each day to residents living in care homes 

throughout Caerphilly county borough. This prompted the Directorate to 

develop a DVD called ‘There’s No Place Like Home’. The #lm focused on the 

6 local authority care homes and showed how high quality residential care 

can be a positive experience for many older people. 

Production of the #lm allowed us to capture the range of accommodation 

options available, the activities delivered in care homes and allowed 

residents of the county borough to hear from service users, their families/

carers and sta" working within residential care homes about their 

experiences. The #lm is available to view on the Caerphilly county  

borough council YouTube channel. 

The authority has taken a regional approach to the development of an 

Integrated Assessment for Older People with Complex Needs. It was 

agreed that Monmouthshire county council would be the lead authority 

on its development and subsequent pilot of an assessment tool with 

health colleagues. Results from the pilot showed success in terms of use 

by community sta" and accordingly it was agreed regionally to use the 

Intermediate Care Fund to establish a post to ensure the document and 

training was rolled out across Gwent. By agreement this post has been 

extended for a further year and smaller partnerships have now been 

formed based around current I.T. systems in use. Caerphilly are working 

with Newport city council to implement the integrated assessment.

What our Regulators Told Us

In the 2013-14 Annual Performance Report prepared by our Regulators 

(CSSIW) they highlighted that we should:

Develop a Commissioning Strategy for Older People

In response to their comments, in 2014-15 we have:

  Held initial discussions with partners with a view to looking at the feasibility 

of developing a pan Gwent commissioning strategy for older people. Due to 

di"erent positions within each organisation this hasn’t been possible hence 

this will be a priority for the Directorate in 2015-16.

P
a
g
e
 3

9



Our Performance & Priorities

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4

24

What we’re going to do in 2015 – 2016

Our priorities for the year ahead in connection with this area will be: 

Priority Why is this a priority? What e#ect will it have?

Development of a Commissioning 

Strategy for Older People.

Demographics indicate an increasing ageing population and the number of people 

with dementia. Putting in place a strategy that takes account of the needs of the 

future will ensure appropriate services are provided to those who need them.

Improved service delivery.

Implementation of the Children’s 

Services Commissioning Strategy.

This will be a key strategic document to drive service development and practice 

improvement.

Improved service delivery.

4.6  Corporate, Political 

Leadership and Support
Identifying the cultural and language needs of our services users is 

an integral part of ensuring that their care and/or support needs are 

accurately assessed and met. Directors of Social Services have a key role  

to play with regards to developing a culture within their organisations 

where sta" are sensitive to people’s linguistic needs and users receive 

services through the medium of Welsh as a natural part of their care. To 

support this the Welsh Government launched ‘More than just words…’. 

The aim of this framework is to spread good practice and mainstream  

the welsh language into all aspects of service planning and delivery. 

The implementation of ‘More than just words…’ is a signi#cant challenge 

for the Authority as well as for our commissioned services, given the scope 

of the Framework, the size of the Directorate and the increasing #nancial 

pressures that we are all facing. However, towards the end of 2014 Welsh 

Language Champions were identi#ed in both Children’s and Adult  

Services and the Council now maintains a Directory of Welsh Speakers. 

 

The Authority continues to support sta" to attend Welsh Speaking 

Training courses. We will continue to work closely with our colleagues 

in the Corporate Policy Unit, Training and Development and Human 

Resources to progress this work in 2015.

In addition to our Welsh language requirements, the Directorate works 

hard to ensure that all sta" are aware of, and implement, the duties set out 

within the Equality Act 2010. The Directorate o"ers specialist training to 

sta", partner agencies and carers to promote good practice in relation to 

meeting the speci#c needs of service users with protected characteristics 

covered under the Act. The Local Authority also maintains close ties with 

Community groups to promote partnership working and inform service 

planning. These groups include the Lesbian Gay Bisexual and Transgender 

Council, local Deaf Clubs, Visual Impairment Community Groups, Caerphilly 

Access Group, 50+ forum, Inter-faith Groups and Mental Health.

P
a

g
e
 4

0



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 4Our Performance & Priorities

25

What our Regulators Told Us

In the 2013-14 Annual Performance Report prepared by our Regulators 

(CSSIW) they highlighted that we should:

Continue to develop mechanisms to improve corporate oversight.

 In response to their comments, in 2014-15 we have:

    Been part of the CSSIW National Inspection of Safeguarding and 

Care Planning of Looked After Children and Care Leavers who exhibit 

vulnerable or risky behaviours. Caerphilly was inspected in March 

2014 and CSSIW reported their #ndings in August.  The inspection 

focussed on 4 key areas; corporate roles and responsibilities, care 

and planning pathways, safeguarding and reviews. 

   The Inspection con#rmed that Corporate Parenting arrangements 

were well embedded and that Elected Members understood 

their responsibilities and demonstrated ambition for Looked 

After Children. Partnership working was found to be e"ective and 

although there were areas for improvement identi#ed, there were 

no issues of concern raised. 

 

  The Inspection con#rmed that all LAC and Care Leavers had Plans  

  in place and although the quality of the plans was inconsistent,  

  there was clear evidence that young people felt they were  

  involved in their planning.  The development of the dedicated  

  16 Plus Team was recognised as signi#cantly improving services  

  for young people. 

     Sought members views on the possibility of setting up task and 

#nish groups for scrutiny members. Task and #nish groups would 

allow a more in-depth examination of one or two speci#c areas 

than would normally be possible at a scrutiny committee meeting. 

Reports from all Task and Finish groups would be presented to the 

Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny committee for endorsement 

of the appropriate recommendations.

 

 

  What we’re going to do in 2015 – 2016

   There are no speci"c priorities for the Directorate in this area 

for 2015-16

P
a
g
e
 4

1



Links to Corporate Priorities & Improvement Objectives

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 5

26

In 2010, legislation required Council’s to identify areas for improvement 

and called these ‘Improvement Objectives’.

Improvement Objectives are a little di"erent from our overall Council 

priorities in that they are based speci#cally on areas of unmet need from 

the public’s point of view and where we want to place our focus in a 

shorter time frame. We also use a range of intelligence, from survey data, 

statistics and local knowledge.  

Speci#cally for the Social Services Directorate our Improvement Objectives 

for 2014-15 focused on Safeguarding Children. We chose this because 

Corporate Parenting is the legal and moral duty that Councillors and the 

Authority have for LAC, to provide them with the level of support, care and 

protection that any good parent would be expected to provide for their 

own child. 

Good quality foster care placements provide LAC with the support and 

stability they need in order to achieve positive outcomes. It is important 

for Caerphilly to have su$cient foster carers to o"er appropriate 

placements for children and young people who are increasingly displaying 

complex and challenging behaviours. For those LAC who are unable 

to be rehabilitated to parents or extended family, we need to plan for 

permanence through Adoption. 

LAC have the right to expect the same outcomes as every other child 

including educational outcomes. Although some do well, LAC across 

Wales generally have lower than average educational achievement in 

comparison to their peers. We need to ensure that all LAC have access 

to good quality education and the opportunity to achieve their full 

potential. Similarly, young people leaving care are particularly vulnerable 

and we will continue to promote their engagement in education and 

training to ensure they have opportunity to secure employment in  

young adulthood.

The reforms to welfare bene#ts will put more pressure on vulnerable 

families and this is likely to lead to additional demand for our services.  

We will need to continue to look at innovative and cost e"ective ways  

of providing good quality services to those who need them.

P
a

g
e
 4

2



Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 5Links to Corporate Priorities & Improvement Objectives

27

Our Improvement Objective goals in 2014-15 were to: 

   Maintain placement stability levels ensuring children experiencing three 

or more placement moves remains below the Welsh Average of 10%.

   Continue to recruit su$cient foster carers in order to meet the 

placement demands of LAC and reduce reliance on Independent 

Fostering Agency placements.

   Ensure that children requiring adoptive placements are suitably 

matched and placed with adoptive families in a timely manner.

   Improve the educational attainment levels of LAC.

   Improve the engagement of young people leaving care in education, 

training and employment.

   Continue to improve the range of accommodation options for young 

people leaving care and those facing homelessness.

What we’ve done in 2014 - 2015

In 2014-15, 7 new carers have been successfully approved by the  

Fostering Panel. The target to recruit 25 new carers over the Improvement 

Objective timeframe has been exceeded with the total now standing at  

30. The Foster Carer Recruitment Strategy was revised during autumn  

2014 in readiness for implementation in 2015-16. Placement stability is 

currently reported at 3.9% and is projected to remain below the Welsh 

Average of 10%.

The South East Wales Adoption Service has been fully operational since 

April 2014 and working practices are continuing to be developed and 

strengthened. In the year we have successfully placed 8 children for 

adoption exceeding the annual target of 3.

Whilst the academic achievements of LAC are only reported annually, a  

key indicator of success is the timely completion of Personal Education 

Plans (PEP’s) and to date 100% of LAC have a PEP in place within 

timescales. This is an improvement on last years rate of 95%.

Most of our young people who have left, or are leaving care have had 

signi#cant issues to overcome in their lives making it di$cult for many of 

them to engage positively in education, training or employment. In the 

year we have maintained last years performance at 50% in line with the 

target. However, 100% of our care leavers have Pathway Plans in place,  

are in contact with the Council and living in suitable accommodation.

The Sixteen Plus Team, working closely with colleagues  

in Housing and the Supporting People team continue  

to identify and develop a wide range of  

accommodation options for young people  

leaving care and homeless 16/17 year olds.  

Performance to date con#rms that 100%  

of young people known to Children’s  

Services are placed in appropriate  

accommodation that meets their  

identi#ed needs.

P
a
g
e
 4

3



Conclusion

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

S
e

c
tio

n 6
In my report I have shown the progress that we have made with our 

services, highlighted our strengths and identi#ed areas that we need to 

focus on in 2015-16.  

Sta" have worked extremely hard this year to ensure that the performance 

of the Directorate continues to meet the standards that are expected of us. 

This has not been an easy task, especially given the particular challenges 

that we have faced us in 2014-15, such as the increasing demands on our 

services and the growing budget pressures faced by the Local Authority  

as a whole.

As the Directorate #nds itself with continued pressure on its resources, the 

challenges for 2015-16 will not be dissimilar to that of last year, and di$cult 

choices will need to be made to re-shape services to meet those pressures.  

However, as we work through the process of change, we will ensure that 

we continue to work closely with our service users, carers, citizens, sta" 

members, Elected Members and partner agencies to secure the best 

possible outcome for all.

While I have referred to the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 

2014 already in this report, its signi#cance cannot be underestimated 

given the impact that its introduction will have on the services we 

provide. Through changing the way we work, it is envisaged that we will 

shift the point at which people require formal social services intervention 

and subsequently this will create a more sustainable position for the 

future. Accordingly, implementation of the Act will drive the work 

programme of the Directorate for the foreseeable future.

While the future brings an array of challenges, I am con#dent that by 

meeting the priorities I have set out within this Annual Report, the 

Directorate will be well placed to continue to deliver e$cient, e"ective 

and safe services to the residents of Caerphilly county borough.

28

P
a

g
e
 4

4



29

If you would like further information on any aspect of this report contact:

Lianne Dallimore,

Annual Council Reporting Framework Project O#cer,

Caerphilly County Borough Council,

Ty Penallta, Tredomen Business Park,

Ystrad Mynach, Hengoed,

CF82 7PG

Telephone: 01443 864679 

Email: dallil@caerphilly.gov.uk  

This report is also available in large print, Braille or other language  

formats upon request.

If you would like more general information about Social Services  

or are interested to #nd out more about a particular development,  

there are various ways you can do this. You can:

Visit the Caerphilly County Borough Council Website at:   

www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

Contact our Social Services Customer Services Department by: Telephone: 

0800 328 4061 or email: socialservices@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Read our Social Services Committee reports at:  

www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Meetings, 

-agendas,-minutes-and-reports 

Watch the Digital stories that we have produced on:  

www.youtube.com/user/CaerphillyCBCTV 

Annual Director’s Report on the e"ectiveness of Social Care Services

Further Information
S

e
c

tio
n 7

P
a
g
e
 4

5



A greener place to live, work and visit      
Man gwyrddach i fyw, gweithio ac ymweld

12351 Designed by the Communications Unit Caerphilly County Borough Council

www.caerphilly.gov.uk/socialservicesacrf

P
a

g
e
 4

6


	Agenda
	5 Council held on 9th June 2015 (minute nos. 1 - 13).
	6 Annual Director's report on the Effectiveness of Social Care Services 2014 - 15.
	Annual Director's Report on the Effectiveness of Social Care Services 2014-15 - health main )
	Social Services Report (Final) 2015


